IN	THE	SUPREME	COURT	OF	FLORIDA	FILED STD J. WHITE JAN 28 19991
							CLERK, SUPREME COURT
CLEON GREENWOOD,)				ByGhief Deputy Glerk
)				
Petitioner,)				
)	CAS	SE 1	NO.94,142	2
vs.)				
			·)				
STATE OF FLORIDA,)				
)				
Respondent.)				
)				

.

*

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender

ANTHONY CALVELLO Assistant Public Defender Fifteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida Florida Bar No.266345 Attorney for Cleon Greenwood The Criminal Justice Building 421 Third Street, 6th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 355-7600

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Cleon Greenwood, was the Defendant in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for St. Lucie County, Florida, and the Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. He will be referred to by name or as Petitioner in this brief. Respondent was the Prosecution in the trial court and the Appellee in the district court.

In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The symbol "R" will denote the Record on Appeal documents.

The symbol "T" will denote the trial and sentencing transcripts.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, Appellant, Cleon Greenwood, was charged by way of an information filed in the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for St. Lucie County, with Count I aggravated stalking of Debra Greenwood a third degree felony in violation of Section 784.048(4), *Florida Statutes* (1997), and Count II, aggravated stalking of Debra Greenwood. R 4-5. Appellant went to jury trial on the two charges. Appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal at the conclusion of the State's case was denied by the trial judge.

At trial, Debra Greenwood testified that she married Appellant during 1975. T 25. On December 8, 1995, their divorce became final. T 27, 61.

The parties stipulated that on July 9, 1996, Petitioner was ordered by Judge Bryan as a special condition of his probation not to contact his ex-wife, Ms. Debra Greenwood. T 25.

Debra Greenwood testified that Petitioner made contact with her by telephone on numerous occasions in violation of a court order prohibiting said contact.

Kim Polson, Mrs. Debra Greenwood's supervisor at her place of employment testified that Petitioner called their office on August 19, 1996. T 118. He wanted to speak to Debra Greenwood. T 118. She informed Petitioner that he was not at work that day. T 120.

Officer Beck of the St. Lucie County Sheriff's department testified that on July 29, 1996, he commenced an investigation into harassing or threatening telephone calls placed by Petitioner to Debra Greenwood. T 125. He gave tape recording equipment to Ms. Greenwood and instructed her to record any telephone calls placed to her by Petitioner. T 125. During the course of this investigation, Debra Greenwood appeared to be very frightened and upset. T 127-128.

Petitioner was found guilty by a jury of Count I, aggravated stalking as charged in the information. R 32, T 178. However, he was acquitted of Count II, aggravated stalking. R 32, T 178.

Appellant was scored pursuant to the Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.703 sentencing guidelines to a "total sentence points" of 83.8 which results in a recommended guidelines sentence of 55.8 months in prison. R 37. Appellant's recommended guideline sentence range was 69.75 maximum state prison months and 41.85 minimum state prison months. R 37, T 185. The Trial Judge sentenced Appellant to 69.75 months in prison with credit for six (6) months time served jail credit. T 191.

However, the written sentence order actually signed by the trial judge on June 7, 1997, failed to reflect any days credit for jail credit or time served in jail. (R 43). [See Appendix 1,

Written Sentence Order]

Timely Notice of Appeal was filed by Petitioner to the Fourth District Court of Appeal R 48.

The Fourth District in a written opinion, *Greenwood v. State*, 720 So. 2d 548 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) [See Appendix 2], on the credit for time served sentencing issue raised by Petitioner ruled as follows:

> Although the written judgment of sentence does not conform to the oral pronouncement, no motion to correct sentence was filed. See Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800(b). The issue is thus not preserved for appeal. See Fla. R. App. P. 9.140(d), Hyden v. State, 715 So. 2d 960 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998).

Id. at 548.

Petitioner's motion on August 13, 1998, for rehearing and/or certification of conflict was denied by the Fourth District Court of Appeal on October 6, 1998.

Timely Notice of Discretionary Review was filed by Petitioner on October 8, 1998. This brief on the merits follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Honorable Court should quash the instant decision of the Fourth District in *Greenwood* as the decision conflicts with decisions of this Court on the same question of law. The Fourth District Court of Appeal in the instant case erroneously identified too narrow a class of sentencing errors which it will consider on appeal without preservation in the trial court.

The error at bar was the written sentencing order's failure to accurately reflect the trial court's oral pronouncement which is a sentencing error apparent on the face of the record that may be corrected on direct appeal without an objection in the lower court notwithstanding the Criminal Appeal Reform Act of 1996.

The courts of this State have repeatedly and consistently held that where the written sentence order does **not** conform to the trial court's oral pronouncement of judgment and sentence, the latter prevails. Appellate court's have historically enjoyed the right to order a trial court to correct a patent sentencing error that is identified by Appellate counsel or discovered by its own review of the entire record on appeal. On remand, Petitioner's written sentence order (R 43) must be corrected to reflect the oral pronouncement of six (6) months jail credit awarded to Petitioner by the Trial Judge at the sentencing hearing. T 191.

ARGUMENT

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THE INSTANT CASE AND IN HYDEN V. STATE, 715 SO. 2D 960 (FLA. 4TH DCA 1998) (EN BANC), ERRONEOUSLY IDENTIFIED TOO NARROW A CLASS OF SENTENCING ERRORS WHICH IT WILL CONSIDER ON APPEAL WITHOUT PRESERVATION IN THE TRIAL COURT.

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.700 defines "sentence" as a "pronouncement by the court of the penalty imposed on a defendant for the offense of which the defendant has been adjudged guilty." See also *Scantling v. State*, 711 So. 2d 524, 526, n.1 (Fla. 1998). At bar, the Trial Judge sentenced Appellant to 69.75 months in prison with credit for six (6) months time served (jail credit). T 191. However, the written sentencing order failed to reflect any credit for time served ordered by the trial court. R 43-44 (See Appendix 1).

The Fourth District in *Hyden v. State*, 715 So. 2d 960 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998)(*en banc*), cited by authority in this cause erroneously identified too narrow a class of sentencing errors which it will consider on appeal without preservation in the trial court. Further, the instant decision is in conflict with this Honorable Court's recent decision in *State v. Mancino*, 714 So. 2d 429 (Fla. 1998), wherein this Court clarified its holding in *Davis v. State*, 661 So. 2d 1193 (Fla. 1998) as follows:

As is evident from our recent holding in Hopping [Hopping v. State, 708 So. 2d 263 (Fla. 1998)], we have rejected the contention that our holding in Davis mandates that only those sentences that facially exceed the statutory maximums may be challenged under rule 3.800(a) as illegal...A sentence that patently fails to comport with statutory or constitutional limitations is by definition "illegal".

Id. at 433. [Emphasis Added].

The error at bar is the written sentencing order's failure to accurately reflect the trial court's oral pronouncement which falls within the *Mancino* definition.

Petitioner will also address the Fourth District's error in holding that the longstanding rule that an oral pronouncement controls over an inconsistent written order has been abrogated by the Criminal Appeals Reform Act of 1996 (herein after "CARA"), Section 924.051(3), *Florida Statutes* (1997), amended *Fla. R. Crim. P.* 3.800(b) and amended *Fla. R. App. P.* 9.140(d).

Also, Petitioner respectfully submits that the well-settled law in Florida that sentencing errors apparent on the face of the record may be corrected on direct appeal is still viable despite the Criminal Appeal Reform Act of 1996 (CARA) and the ensuing rules changes.

THE ORAL PRONOUNCEMENT CONTROLS OVER A WRITTEN ORDER

The well-settled law in Florida is that a trial court's oral pronouncement controls over an inconsistent written order and that such ministerial error may be raised on direct appeal despite the absence of an objection in the trial court. Davis v. State, 677 So. 2d 1366 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) (written order of community control did **not** conform to the oral pronouncement; reversed for correction); Thomas v. State, 595 So. 2d 287 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) (oral pronouncement controls over written order); Baker v. State, 676 So. 2d 1050 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) (written order revoking probation does not conform to trial court's oral pronouncements); Jackson v. State, 707 So. 2d 775 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) (pre-CARA offense); Anderson v. State, 616 So. 2d 200 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993); Rowland v. State, 548 So. 2d 812 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989); Farmer v. State, 670 So. 2d 1143 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996).

Petitioner submits that the Criminal Appeal Reform Act of 1996 and the ensuing rules amendments have not abrogated this longstanding principle of law that an oral pronouncement controls over a written order and that it is within the inherent authority of a reviewing court to correct such a scrivener's error apparent on the face of the record on direct appeal.

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.700 defines "sentence" as a "pronouncement by the court of the penalty imposed on a defendant for the offense of which the defendant has been adjudged guilty." See *Scantling* v. *State*, *supra*. A "written sentence is merely a record of the actual sentence pronounced in open court." *Kelly* v. *State*, 414 So. 2d 1117, 1118 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982). It is the oral pronouncement that controls. *See State* v. *Williams*, 712 So. 2d 762 (Fla. 1998) (decided post-CARA; there is a judicial policy that the actual oral imposition of sanctions should prevail over any subsequent written order to the contrary).

Once a final decision has been announced unequivocally, the court lacks jurisdiction to retract it by entering a subsequent written order that is not in compliance with the orally announced final order. See Marcinek v. State, 662 So. 2d 771, 772 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); Drumwright v. State, 572 So. 2d 1029, 1031 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991); Flowers v. State, 351 So. 2d 387 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977). An order is rendered, valid and binding, when orally given. Briseno v. Perry, 417 So. 2d 813 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), review denied, 427 So. 2d 736 (1983). It may be corrected at any time to reflect what the court had, in fact, done. Luhrs v. State, 394 So. 2d 137 (Fla.

5th DCA 1981).¹

In post-CARA cases, not only has this Court recognized this policy, State v. Williams, 712 So. 2d 762, the First Third and Fifth District Courts of Appeal have continued to remand for correction of a conflicting written order, finding that a trial court's oral pronouncement controls. Walker v. State, 701 So. 2d 401, 402 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997); Smith v. State, 705 So. 2d 1033 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998) (trial court's written finding that Smith failed to complete the community service condition did not conform to oral pronouncement finding that Smith completed the required hours; order to be corrected on remand); Smith v. State, 711 So. 2d 100 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) (in violation hearing held post-CARA, written finding that defendant failed to pay costs conflicted with trial court's oral pronouncement; written finding erroneous).

SENTENCING ERRORS APPARENT ON THE FACE OF THE RECORD

The contemporaneous objection rule was created by the courts to promote fairness and judicial economy. *Castor v. State*, 365 So.

The Courts of this State have long recognized it's inherent power to correct clerical errors. See Sawyer v. State, 94 Fla. 60, 113 So. 736 (1927); D'Alessandro v. Tippins, 98 Fla. 853, 124 So. 455 (1929)("If the first sentence contained clerical or formal errors, the judgment as entered may at any time be corrected so as to speak the truth of what was in fact done by the court.")

2d 701 (Fla. 1978); Bateh v. State, 101 So. 2d 869, 874 (Fla. 1st DCA 1958) (on rehearing) (rule that questions not presented in the trial court will not be considered on appeal "is procedural in nature").

This has Court held that the reasoning behind the contemporaneous objection rule does not apply to certain sentencing errors which are apparent from the face of the record. Davis v. State, 661 So. 2d 1193; State v. Rhoden, 448 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 1984); State v. Montague, 682 So. 2d 1085 (Fla. 1996). In Rhoden, this Court decided that the need for a contemporaneous objection was not necessary as to the sentencing process since the consequence of reversal was to merely remand the case for resentencing:

> The contemporaneous objection rule, which the state seeks apply here to to prevent respondent from seeking review his of sentence, was fashioned primarily for use in trial proceedings. The rule is intended to give trial judges an opportunity to address objections made by counsel in trial proceedings and correct errors...The rule prohibits trial counsel from deliberately allowing known error to go uncorrected as a defense tactic and as a hedge to provide a defendant with a second trial if the first trial decision is adverse to the defendant ... The purpose of the contemporaneous objection rule is not present in the sentencing process because any error can be corrected by a simple

remand to the sentencing judge.

448 So. 2d at 1016. This principal was reaffirmed in *Davis v*. State, 661 So. 2d 1193, and again in State v. Montague, 682 So. 2d 1085, a case decided since the enactment of the Criminal Appeal Reform Act. While *Davis* held that sentencing errors which did not result in an illegal sentence in excess of the maximum permitted by law did not constitute fundamental error which could be raised for the first time on post-conviction relief, *it expressly held that such error*, *if apparent on the face of the record*, *could be raised for the first time on appeal*. *Davis*, 661 So. 2d at 1197. In *Davis*, this Court wrote:

> Normally, to raise an asserted error in an appeal, a contemporaneous objection must have been made before the trial court at the time the asserted error occurred. The general exception to this rule is that an asserted error may be raised for the first time on appeal if the error is "fundamental."...We have distinguished this general rule, however, as it pertains to claimed errors in the sentencing process that are apparent on the face of the record. See, e.g., Taylor v. State, 601 So. 2d 540 (Fla. 1992); Rhoden. When sentencing errors are apparent on the face of the record, the purpose of the contemporaneous objection rule is not present because the error can be corrected by a simple remand to the sentencing judge. [Citation omitted] Additionally,...it is difficult, if impossible, for not counsel to contemporaneously object to the absence of a

written sentencing order at the sentencing hearing because, at the stay, counsel does not know whether a written order is being filed or what it will say.

Id. at 1197.

Thus, Davis did not preclude the consideration of sentencing errors apparent on the face of the record on appeal even in the absence of an objection. When this Court recently clarified the Davis definition of an illegal sentence in State v. Mancino, significantly, this aspect of the decision concerning sentencing error apparent on the face of the record was not receded from.

In addition, and significantly, in a case decided subsequent to the enactment of the Criminal Appeal Reform Act, *State v. Montague*, 682 So. 2d at 1088, this Court held:

> We have repeatedly held that absent an illegal sentence or an unauthorized departure from the sentencing guidelines, [footnote omitted] only sentencing errors "apparent on the face of the record do not require a contemporaneous objection in order to be preserved for review." Taylor v. State, 601 So. 2d 540, 541 (Fla. 1992) (emphasis added); see also Merchant v. State, 509 So. 2d 1101 (Fla. 1987) trial (holding that court's erroneous classification of defendant's prior conviction for second-degree murder as a life felony, which was apparent from four corners of record, and resulted in sentencing departure, could be raised for first time on appeal); Forehand v. State, 537 So. 2d 103, 104 (Fla. 1989) ("absent contemporaneous а

objection...sentencing errors must be apparent on the face of the record to be cognizable on appeal") (emphasis added); Dailey v. State, 2d 532, 534 (Fla. 1986)(alleged 488 So. sentencing errors requiring an evidentiary determination may not be initially raised on appeal)...We have addressed the contemporaneous objection issue in its varying forms for well over a decade. The enduring policy rationale in our decisions is that there is an appropriate time and forum for making objections to alleged sentencing errors...By our decision today, we aqain emphasize that the sentencing hearing is the appropriate time **to** object to alleged sentencing errors based upon disputed factual matters.

(Emphasis supplied).

Violation of Separation of Powers

Article V, Section 2(a), of the Florida Constitution confers on the Supreme Court the exclusive power to adopt rules for the practice and procedure in all courts. "All courts in Florida possess the inherent powers to do all things that are reasonable and necessary for the administration of justice within the scope of their jurisdiction, subject to valid existing laws constitutional provisions." State v. Ford, 626 So. 2d 1338, 1345 (Fla. 1993); In re Order on Prosecution of Criminal Appeals by Tenth Judicial Circuit Public Defender, 561 So. 2d 1130, 1133 (Fla. 1990). A statute which purports to create or modify a procedural rule of

court is constitutionally infirm. *Markert v. Johnson*, 367 So. 2d 1003 (Fla. 1978).

Sections 924.051(3) and (8), Florida Statutes, (1997) create procedural barriers to the right to appeal by requiring a threshold showing of prejudice and preservation, and by restricting the appellate court's inherent authority to review errors apparent on the face of the record. Subsection (3) precludes reversal on appeal unless the appellate court determines after a review of the complete record that prejudicial error occurred and was properly preserved in the trial court, or, if not properly preserved, constituted fundamental error. While this Court has stated that the legislature may place reasonable conditions on the constitutional right to appeal so long as the conditions do not thwart litigants' legitimate appellate rights, Amendments to Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 696 So. 2d 1103, 1104 (Fla. 1996), the above statutes conflict with the applicable rules of procedure.

The appellate rules do not require a showing of prejudice and preservation as a prerequisite to the right to appeal. Unlike the statute, there are no provisions in the rules or state constitution which limit the courts' ability to review cases or remedy errors

where deemed reasonable and necessary for the administration of justice. On the contrary, the rules clearly allow the courts to exercise their jurisdiction to achieve justice. *Fla. R. App. P.* 9.040(d) ("At any time in the interest of justice, the court may permit any part of the proceeding to be amended so that it may be disposed of on the merits. In the absence of amendment, the court may disregard any procedural error or defect that docs not adversely affect the substantial rights of the parties"); *Fla. R. App. P.* 9.140(h) (Appellate court "shall review all rulings and orders appearing in the record necessary to pass upon the grounds of an appeal. In the interest of justice, the court may grant any relief to which a party is entitled").² The Florida legislature

In fact, appellate courts have historically enjoyed the right to review issues on appeal where such review is deemed essential to the administration of justice, whether or not prejudice is alleged or the error preserved. See, e.g., Bennett v. State, 127 Fla. 759, 173 So. 817, 819 (1937) (appellate court may consider questions not raised or reserved in the trial court in the exercise of its inherent power "when it appears necessary to do so in order to meet the ends of justice or to prevent the invasion or denial of essential rights"); Cleveland v. State, 287 So. 2d 347, 348 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973) (despite fact that no argument was raised challenging the sentence on appeal, court held it was within scope of appellate review to consider an illegal sentence or illegal part of a sentence which appeared on appeal, relying on former Florida Appellate Rule 6.16 which provided in part: "The court may also in its discretion, if it deems the interests of justice to require, review any other things said or done in the cause which appear in the appeal record, including instructions to the jury").

cannot interfere with this inherent judicial power without compromising the independence of the judiciary.

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