ORIGINAL

FILED

MD J. WHITE

FEB 15 1999

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 94,142

By Chief Deputy Clerk

CLEON GREENWOOD,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO, BUREAU CHIEF Florida Bar No. 656879

ETTIE FEISTMANN
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0892830
1655 Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard
Suite 300
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
Telephone: (561) 688-7759

Counsel for Respondent

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the Defendant and Respondent was the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the 19th Judicial Circuit, in and for St. Lucie County, Florida. Respondent was the Appellee and Petitioner was the Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. In this brief, the parties shall be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court except that Respondent may also be referred to as the State.

In this brief, the symbol "T" will be used to denote the transcripts of the trial, and "R" will be used to denote the record on appeal to the Fourth District.

All emphasis in this brief is supplied by Respondent unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts petitioner's statement of the case and facts for purposes of this appeal in so far as it presents an accurate, objective and non-argumentative recital of the procedural history and facts in the record, and subject to the additions and clarifications set forth in the argument portion of this brief and in the district court's opinion.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

For the first time in the Fourth District, petitioner claimed as error the discrepancy between the written judgment of sentence and the oral pronouncement regarding credit for time served. Respondent contends that the Fourth District correctly held that the alleged sentencing error was not reviewable by the appellate court because it was not preserved. It is undisputed that the alleged error was not preserved because petitioner failed to file a Rule 3.800(b) motion in the trial court.

Further, the Fourth District's implicit holding that the sentencing error was not fundamental error was correct, because it is not so patent and serious, and it is not illegal.

Additionally, after the enactment of the Criminal Appeals Reform Act of 1996, Florida courts no longer review nonfundamental errors which are apparent on the face of the record. Most importantly, the Fourth District did not hold that petitioner was not entitled to credit; it merely held that his claim was not

reviewable for the first time on appeal.

Furthermore, while the changes in the Criminal Appeal Reform Act and the rules changed the definition of fundamental error in the sentencing context, those changes are not unconstitutional, because petitioner is not foreclosed from seeking remedy in the trial court. Thus, the restriction prescribed by the Criminal Appeal Reform Act on the appeal of sentencing errors is both efficient and constitutional.

ARGUMENT

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE UNPRESERVED DISCREPANCY BETWEEN THE ORAL PRONOUNCEMENT AND THE WRITTEN JUDGMENT OF SENTENCE REGARDING PETITIONER'S CREDIT WAS NOT REVIEWABLE ON APPEAL.

Petitioner challenges the holding of the Fourth District's opinion in <u>Greenwood v. State</u>, 720 So. 2d 548 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998). Petitioner contends that the Fourth District's reliance on <u>Hyden v. State</u>, 715 So. 2d 960 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) (en banc), review granted, Case No. 93,966 (1998), was erroneous, because it "identified too narrow a class of sentencing errors which it will consider on appeal without preservation in the trial court."

Petitioner, in essence, is asserting that his alleged sentencing error was fundamental, and that the enactment of the Criminal Appeal Reform Act is unconstitutional. Respondent disagrees.

The record shows that during the sentencing at the trial court, the trial judge pronounced petitioner's sentence of 69.75 months incarceration, and also awarded him credit of six months for time served (T 191). However, since the written judgment of sentence failed to reflect any credit (R 43), a discrepancy between the written order and the oral pronouncement in open court was created. Without filing any motion in the trial court, petitioner raised the allegation of entitlement to credit for time served on appeal in the Fourth District. The Fourth District declined to review his claim on the merits and held the

following:

Although the written judgment of sentence does not conform to the oral pronouncement, no motion to correct the sentence was filed. See Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.800(b). The issue is thus not preserved for appeal. See Fla.R.App.P. 9.140(d); Hyden v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1342, 715 So.2d 960 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998).

Greenwood v. State, 720 So. 2d 548, 549 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998). The Fourth District also denied petitioner's motion for rehearing.

Respondent submits that this issue was properly decided by the district court in <u>Greenwood v. State</u>, 720 So. 2d 548 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998). Likewise, the opinion of <u>Hyden v. State</u>, 715 So. 2d 960 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) (en banc) on which <u>Greenwood</u> relied, states the correct statement of the law.

At the outset, respondent would note that the state agrees with petitioner that he is entitled to credit of six months, based on the trial court's pronouncement in open court. Respondent also agrees with petitioner that the oral pronouncement in open court controls over a written order. Respondent further agrees with petitioner that his credit for time served is apparent on the face of the record, since the trial court pronounced it in open court and there was no objection to it by either party. The only question then before this Honorable Court is whether the district

l"When there is a difference between a court's oral pronouncement and a written order, the oral pronouncement controls." D.F. v. State, 650 So. 2d 1097, 1098 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995); A.S. v. State, 714 So. 2d 1038, 1039 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998).

court was correct in declining to review the merits of petitioner's claim by holding that the allegation of error was not preserved and in implicitly holding that it was not fundamental error. Respondent notes that neither the Fourth District nor the trial court ever said that petitioner is not entitled to his credit. The Fourth District never reached the issue of entitlement to credit; rather, the court merely held that because petitioner failed to challenge the discrepancy between the written order and the oral pronouncement of his credit in the trial court, the issue was not preserved for review by the appellate court. The Fourth District's holding in <u>Greenwood</u> was a correct statement of the law and a correct interpretation of § 924.051, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996), the Criminal Appeal Reform Act of 1996, Chapter 96-248, Laws of Florida ("Act").

As stated above, the Fourth District in this case relied on its decision in Hyden. As in this case, in Hyden, where the defendant raised sentencing issues for the first time on appeal, the district court held that it will "no longer entertain on appeal the correction of sentencing errors which are not properly preserved" by a contemporaneous objection or a motion under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800. Citing to Maddox v. State, 708 So. 2d 617 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), review granted, 718 So. 2d 169 (Fla. 1998), the Fourth District in Hyden held that with the exception of the illegality of a sentence as defined in Davis v.

State, 661 So. 2d 1193, 1196-97 (Fla. 1995), every sentencing issue must be preserved in the trial court in order for it to be reviewed on appeal.²

Theses cases in essence interpret the Act of 1996, which imposes the following two restrictions before an appeal can be taken:

An appeal may not be taken from a judgment or order of a trial court unless a prejudicial error is alleged and is properly preserved or, if not properly preserved, would constitute fundamental error. A judgment or sentence may be reversed on appeal only when an appellate court determines after a review of the complete record that prejudicial error occurred and was properly preserved in the trial court or, if not properly preserved, would constitute fundamental error.

Subsection 924.051(3).

The appellate court then may entertain an appeal which alleges prejudicial error that has been properly preserved, or would

Shortly before <u>Hyden</u> the Fourth District expressed the same in <u>Harriel v. State</u>, 710 So. 2d 102, 103 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), where the court said:

[[]I]f the appellant were to allege a sentencing error, it may not be raised for the first time on appeal but must be brought to the attention of the trial court, either at the time of sentencing or by motion to correct the sentence, pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b). See Johnson v. State, 697 So. 2d 1304, 1305 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997); \$ 924.051, Fla. Stat. (1997); Fla.R.App.P. 9.140(b)(2)(B)(iv), (d). No such motion was filed in this case. Thus, because there was no preserved issue, the appeal should be dismissed.

constitute fundamental error.

In order to be preserved, the issue had to be presented to, and ruled on by the trial court. § 924.051(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1997); Fla. R. App. P. 9.140(b)(2)(B)(iv); and Fla. R. App. P. 9.140(d).

The enactment of the Act and the recent amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate and Criminal Procedure, indicate that both the legislature and this Court view the trial court as the best judicial body to investigate and determine whether a sentencing error has occurred and, if so, to correct the error.

The Act and the amended rules provide ready remedies for every legitimate claim of sentencing error to be first raised in the trial court. Errors can be raised in the trial court contemporaneously, by a post-sentencing motion, or by a post-conviction motion. After the amendments, the definition of "rendition" of an order was changed to provide that a timely filed motion to correct the sentence stays rendition of the judgment of conviction and sentence for purposes of appeal. See Hyden; Fla. R. App. P. 9.020(h). Thus, the amendments make it clear that a timely motion to correct a sentence preserves the defendant's

The rules were amended to harmonize with the Act and to require that sentencing issues first be raised in the trial court. See Amendments to Fla.R.App.P. 9.020(g) and Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.800, 675 So. 2d 1374 (Fla. 1996); Amendments to the Fla.R.Crim.P., 685 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 1996).

appellate rights. The defendant loses his or her appellate rights only when he or she does not observe the provisions of Rule 3.800(b); Rule 9.140(d); Hyden. In sum, in amending the Florida Rules of Appellate and Criminal Procedure, the Florida Supreme Court has provided numerous vehicles for defendants to raise sentencing errors in the trial court, regardless of the "fundamentalness" of the error alleged, and in a manner that continues to promote fairness. Here, petitioner's claim was not preserved in the trial court.

The next underlying question is whether the alleged error in this case is fundamental.⁵ Respondent contends that the Fourth District was correct in implicitly holding that the discrepancy

⁴A defendant has the following remedies to challenge his sentencing errors in the trial court. A defendant may file a motion to correct an illegal sentence under Rule 3.800(a) at any time. A defendant may raise a contemporaneous objection regarding a sentencing error during sentencing or file a motion under Rule 3.800(b) within thirty days of the rendition of the sentence. Additionally, a defendant may bring a sentencing error to the trial court's attention by filing a Rule 3.850 motion within two years of the rendition of the final judgment of conviction and sentence. Under each of these scenarios listed above, the defendant is entitled to appeal a trial court's adverse ruling on the motion or objection. Additionally, Rule 9.600(d), provides the trial court with concurrent jurisdiction to review sentencing errors pursuant to Rule 3.800(a) while the appellate court reviews trial claims and other preserved error on direct appeal.

⁵For the sake of argument respondent will assume that there is sentencing fundamental error. <u>Compare Maddox</u> (court held that no sentencing error can constitute fundamental error because of the provisions of fixing each errors by Rule 3.800).

between the written order and the oral pronouncement <u>does not</u> constitute fundamental error.

The legislature did not define "fundamental error," and the district courts differ on which sentencing errors constitute fundamental error. In Maddox the Fifth District has concluded that there is no such thing as fundamental sentencing error. The Fourth District in Hyden considers an illegal sentence to be fundamental error, and so do the First and the Third districts. See Nelson v. State, 23 Florida Law Weekly D2241 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) (general division en banc) and Jordan v. State, 23 Florida Law Weekly D2130 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998).

The Second District in <u>Denson v. State</u>, 711 So. 2d 1225, 1230 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), defined fundamental sentencing error as "illegal sentences and other serious, patent sentencing errors." Shortly afterwards in <u>Bain v. State</u>, 24 Florida Law Weekly D314 (Fla. 2d DCA January 29, 1999) (en banc), the Second District revisited the issue and joined the First, Third and Fourth districts in considering illegal sentence as fundamental, but expanded its definition to add to that employed by <u>Davis v. State</u>, 661 So. 2d 1193, 1196 (Fla. 1995) (sentence that exceeds the statutory maximum), a sentence "that patently fails to comport with statutory or constitutional limitations." <u>Bain</u>. (Citing <u>State v.</u>

Mancino, 714 So. 2d 429, 433 (Fla. 1998)). But see Bain v. State, 24 Florida Law Weekly D314 (Altenbernd, J., dissenting) ("I would not declare these unpreserved errors to be fundamental in an appellate court when there exists an avenue of redress in the trial courts that is now, and always has been, available to Mr. Bain").

Here, even under the expanded definition of the Second District, the sentence in this case is not illegal and does not patently fail to comport with statutory or constitutional limitations. Petitioner's sentence is not fundamental, and thus it was correctly not reviewed by the district court.

Petitioner also alleges that since his sentencing claim is apparent on the face of the record, the error should be considered fundamental. Petitioner is correct that under the previous case law, error of discrepancy between oral and written judgment would be found to be "fundamental." However, the Act was designed to eliminate such review of sentencing error for the first time on appeal. Because the amended rule 3.800(b) provides an opportunity to be heard in the trial court on such issue, the district courts receded from the cases which predate the newly adopted Rule 3.800(b) and Section 924.051(3), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996).

E.g. Dodson v. State, 710 So. 2d 159, 161 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) (where the court summarized some cases on what constitutes

⁶The court in <u>Bain</u> said that it would likely impress the court as fundamental "an error that improperly extends the defendant's incarceration or supervision."

"fundamental" sentencing error after the enactment of the statute and the amendment of the rule); Maddox, 708 So. 2d at 618, n. 5 ("Under the court's prior decisions, an exception to requirement of preservation of error was made for sentencing errors apparent on the face of the record which were reviewable on direct appeal, even in the absence of a contemporaneous objection and regardless of whether the error was fundamental, since as to these errors the purpose of the contemporaneous objection rule was not present" [e.s.]); Bain, 24 Florida Law Weekly D314 (before the enactment of the Act, Florida's courts routinely reviewed errors that were apparent on the face of the record). However, since the enactment of the Act, such nonfundamental errors can be reviewed by the appellate courts only if they were preserved. Bain (Citing Nelson, 23 Florida Law Weekly D2241)). Thus, petitioner's claim that his alleged sentencing error is fundamental because it is apparent on the face of the record must fail.

Petitioner also claims that <u>State v. Mancino</u>, 714 So. 2d 429 (Fla. 1998), conflicts with the holding of this case. <u>Mancino</u>, however, is distinguishable and does not provide any meaningful guidance in this case. Unlike in this case, <u>in Mancino</u>, the <u>defendant was denied credit</u>. There, the defendant filed a post conviction motion seeking jail credit which was denied. The issue presented to the court was whether such a request should be made by a motion under Rule 3.800 or 3.850. This Court held that under the

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